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APPLICATION #’s VA-19-18, VA-19-19, VA-19-20              August 15, 2019 1 
 2 

LEGAL NOTICE 3 
 4 
Notice is hereby given that the Orange Township Board of Zoning Appeals will hold a public 5 
hearing on Thursday, August 15th, 2019, beginning at 6:30 p.m. to consider the following 6 
application/s: 7 
 8 
Variance Application #VA-19-18, Joseph & Tia Stropkai, Requesting a use variance from Section 9 
21.05(c) of the Orange Township Zoning Resolution to allow for safety cover in place of a fence for an 10 
in-ground swimming pool in an area zoned Single Family Planned Residential (SFPRD). The subject 11 
property is located at 3349 Sunglow Drive, Lewis Center, OH 43035 and having parcel number 318-12 
120-01-018-000. 13 
 14 

Variance Application #VA-19-19 Ninja Express Car Wash LLC., Requesting a variance from 15 
Section II(B) of Zoning Case #2192 for a structure that will fail to meet the minimum setback 16 
requirement from any street right-of-way. In addition, requesting sign variance/s from Section 22 17 
of the Orange Township Zoning Resolution. The subject property is located at 8062 Orange Center 18 
Drive, Lewis Center, OH 43035 and having parcel number 318-321-01-005-000. 19 
 20 

Conditional Use Application #VA-19-20 Ninja Express Car Wash LLC., Requesting a Conditional 21 
Use from Section 22.04(a) of the Orange Township Zoning Resolution to allow the construction of a 22 
monument style free standing signs in an area zoned Planned Commercial and Office (PC) District. 23 
The subject property is located at 8062 Orange Center Drive, Lewis Center, OH 43035 and having 24 
parcel number 318-321-01-005-000. 25 
 26 
The hearing will be held at the Orange Township Hall, 1680 East Orange Road, Lewis Center, Ohio, 27 
43035. 28 

The applications and plans are available for inspection for a period of at least 10 days prior to the 29 
hearing at the Orange Township Zoning Office, 1680 East Orange Road, Lewis Center, Ohio, 43035. 30 
Zoning Office hours are Monday through Friday, 8 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. except legal holidays. 31 

Following this hearing the Board may have a meeting for general purposes to consider such business as 32 
may properly come before it including, but not limited to, consideration and/or approval of minutes, 33 
scheduling future hearing dates for this or other applications and like matters. 34 
 35 
The person responsible for the publication of this notice is Jeff Beard, Orange Township Zoning 36 
Department. 37 
 38 

Rick Oster, Chairman 39 
Jeff Beard, Orange Township Zoning Department 40 

 41 
Please publish one time, on or before Monday, August 5, 2019 in The Delaware Gazette 42 
 43 
Mr. Miller called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 44 
 45 
Roll Call:  Jerry Miller, Punitha Sundar, Kelvin Trefz, Victoria Jordan, Aaron Shipley 46 
 47 
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Ms. Boni: The Chair informed us that he was not able to attend this meeting. 48 
 49 
Township Officials Also Present:  Michael McCarthy, Township Counsel                       50 
                                                       Michele Boni, Planning and Zoning Director 51 
 52 
A Court Reporter from Ruffle Reporters administered the oath to all those wishing to speak this evening. 53 
 54 
Variance Application #VA-19-18, Joseph & Tia Stropkai, Requesting a use variance from Section 55 
21.05(c) of the Orange Township Zoning Resolution to allow for safety cover in place of a fence for an 56 
in-ground swimming pool in an area zoned Single Family Planned Residential (SFPRD). The subject 57 
property is located at 3349 Sunglow Drive, Lewis Center, OH 43035 and having parcel number 318-58 
120-01-018-000. 59 
 60 
Ms. Boni presented the Staff Report and presentation. Surrounding this site is single family on all sides 61 
and in the back is Alum Creek State Park. 62 
 63 

APPLICANT PRESENTATION/BOARD QUESTIONS & COMMENTS 64 
 65 

Joseph Stropkai, 3349 Sunglow Drive, Lewis Center, Ohio 43035. About a year ago we decided we were 66 
going to proceed with a swimming pool on our property. Have pictures that show how the property 67 
backs up to Alum Creek State Park. I was pretty adamant from the get go that I did not want a fence due 68 
to the aesthetics of the property and such. It was unbeknownst to me about the fence ordinance and am 69 
seeking the automatic cover in lieu of the fence. Some sites have shown it is actually safer than a fence 70 
and many other positives as well. Showed pictures of examples of the cover. Pool will be off their back 71 
deck. 72 
 73 
Mr. Trefz: The cover slides on tracks on each side? 74 
 75 
Mr. Stropkai: Yes. I actually brought Matt Ray who is the owner of Luxury Pool Company who is more 76 
of an expert and can tell you more and answer questions. As far as neighbors, I have gotten the approval 77 
from the homeowners in the neighborhood. 78 
 79 
Ms. Sundar: The next door neighbors are for you? 80 
 81 
Mr. Stropkai: There is no opposition from the neighbors. 82 
 83 
Mr. Trefz: Do you have that in writing or just oral? 84 
 85 
Mr. Stropkai: Just oral. We have the HOA in writing. 86 
 87 
Ms. Sundar: You have the HOA in writing saying the neighbors don’t oppose it? 88 
 89 
Mr. Stropkai: It doesn’t say the neighbors don’t oppose it but it says they’re okay, and the neighbors 90 
have verbally communicated that they’re okay with it; I think they would actually prefer that. 91 
 92 
Mr. Trefz: I see it is a keyed switch; is that switch under lock and key?  93 
 94 
Mr. Stropkai: Actually a key code that you have to punch in the code. My understanding is that you have 95 
to open that up and have your finger on the button as it closes. If you release, it will stop closing. You 96 
can’t just walk away and let it cover up; you have to watch it as it covers the pool so you make sure no 97 
one is in the pool.  98 
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Mr. Trefz: When it’s completely closed, does it lock in the other end and if so, how? 99 
 100 
Matthew Ray, 120 Woodworth. When you close the covering, you release the button off the key pad; the 101 
mechanism stops in its closed position and then the transmission has a lock in place. It isn’t something 102 
that can just physically be moved, somewhat like a car going into park from drive.  103 
 104 
Mr. Miller: Do you have children? 105 
 106 
Mr. Stropkai: I do; a 4 and 6 year old. 107 
 108 
Mr. Miller: What’s going to keep the inquisitive kids from getting in? 109 
 110 
Mr. Stropkai: I think the main thing for me with this cover was the safety feature. When it’s not in use, 111 
within a matter of seconds, this cover can be put in place, so if you have to run inside or take a break 112 
from the pool, you can literally have it closed and covered; a fence can always be left unlocked, someone 113 
can climb over it. This way it’s closed at all times when it’s not being used.  114 
 115 
Mr. Miller: When your children become teenagers, they invite other teenagers and whether it’s the 116 
security code or let’s do this or that, the security of it would be a concern without any type of fencing.  117 
 118 
Mr. Ray: You can have multiple codes; in fact, you can have a one-time use code, so if the family 119 
decides they’re going to leave and allow the kids to stay swimming, the cover can be operated and 120 
closed, but it’s a one use code. In the United States, accidents or tragedies that occur in swimming pools 121 
do not happen from neighbors; they generally happen with people inside the home and unfortunately 122 
usually end up being grandchildren and nieces and nephews. These are families that are comfortable 123 
with their pool, the immediate family is comfortable with the pool, and guests come over with small kids 124 
that aren’t in the mindset of protecting their pool, so the fence code has been what it is for years and 125 
years but really doesn’t address overall safety. Joe isn’t going to put his kids in jeopardy but reality is 126 
that securing a swimming pool with an automatic retracting cover puts his kids and his family in a much 127 
safer position as well as the community, coupled with the lack of the fence and aesthetic benefits. It’s a 128 
win-win for both the owner of the pool and the neighbors in the immediate surroundings.  129 
 130 
Mr. Shipley: My understanding is that pool fences require self closing latches, self locking latches, the 131 
latch has to be a certain height from the side of the gate, so unless you purposely prop those gates open, 132 
that pool would then become enclosed. If kept working properly, the gate closes on its own, it shuts on 133 
its own.  134 
 135 
Mr. Ray: The gate is required to be self latch, not self lock. 136 
 137 
Mr. Shipley: But it has to be a self-closing gate that self latches. 138 
 139 
Mr. Ray: That is the current barrier lock code.  140 
 141 
Mr. Shipley: So that takes away some of the human piece of it if someone were to forget to do this and 142 
only responsible folks should be doing this, you’ve got to turn the switch and this that and the other, so if 143 
someone were not to close that cover, that’s a concern I have.  144 
 145 
Mr. Ray: A fence keeps at best someone with a 42” reach at top, and I can’t say I can specifically 146 
remember being 6 years old, but I have a feeling most 6 year olds could pop a magna latch which is the 147 
industry standard pool gate, just by giving it a good solid yank. But I’m not here to argue the flaws with 148 
the current barrier code, we’re looking at going above and beyond for the family and the community. 149 
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Mr. Shipley: But it would be difficult for someone to, say in the night, accidentally walk into a pool that 150 
has a fence on it. 151 
 152 
Mr. Ray: It would be difficult but with an auto cover it would be impossible. 153 
 154 
Mr. Shipley: Unless it was not shut, unless someone forgot to close it. 155 
 156 
Mr. Ray: Gates are open almost all the time. We have a service route and out of 300 points I think we 157 
have about a dozen people who keep them locked, they just don’t do it. The mulch guy leaves it open, 158 
lawn mower guy leaves it open, they become out of adjustment. Very few barriers are kept within code. 159 
 160 
Ms. Jordan: On Page 11 of this handout from your standards, multiple safety layers, it says several safety 161 
precautions together provide a stronger safeguard, you should never rely on any one layer to be fail 162 
proof. And then it says enclose the pool with a barrier, and back fencing may be required in certain 163 
areas, so it sounds to me like your own information suggests at the very least that you install a barrier in 164 
addition to the cover. 165 
 166 
Mr. Ray: This was a manual written by the manufacturer’s legal team, so you have to understand it from 167 
their standpoint; they’re handing this out to people that are also installing them on ponds. The reality is 168 
that cover is being accepted by states as a whole all over the country, California being one of them. We 169 
can probably agree things are a little different there. Indiana, Ohio State Code accepts them. Delaware 170 
County accepts them for zoning and building. There’s only certain local municipalities, such as Orange, 171 
that have zoning codes that are above and beyond and address different things than the building code 172 
does. Grove City and Columbus accept them. The technology has come a long way and they’re UL listed 173 
and certified, and it is becoming much more mainstream.  174 
 175 
Mr. McCarthy: I would advise the Board that this is a Use Variance and the standard is unless there is no 176 
economically viable use for the property absent the variance, it should not be given. I also remind the 177 
Board it’s not the Board’s function to amend the Zoning Resolution absence satisfaction of the standards 178 
that are established in the Zoning Resolution itself.  179 
 180 
Mr. Ray: I have a video that shows kids playing soccer on the cover, so when this cover is closed, it’s 181 
completely secure. In our family it’s a special treat they call cover jumping, and friends come over and 182 
they play kickball on it. It’s like playing on a big waterbed and there’s no access to the pool.  183 
 184 
Mr. Miller: What happens if you’ve got a big storm come up and you lose power and the cover is open? 185 
 186 
Mr. Ray: There’s a provision for putting a ¾” ratchet in there and it will manually close; it’s a one way 187 
feature.  188 
 189 
Mr. Trefz: If I could get some clarification on the language that we should only allow this if it’s the only 190 
way to get it so it’s economically feasible.  191 
 192 
Ms. Boni: There’s 4 criteria in Section 28.06 d) of our Zoning Resolution and those are the 4 criteria that 193 
you want to look at and that is the reason you would grant such a variance.  194 
 195 
Mr. McCarthy: And I believe those are listed in the Staff Report? 196 
 197 
Ms. Boni: Yes.  198 
 199 
Mr. McCarthy: And the criteria you’re referring to is under the unnecessary hardship.  200 
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Mr. Miller: And you feel the unnecessary hardship would be the cost of the fence?  201 
 202 
Mr. Stropkai: No, I think more the aesthetics with the woods and just the general overview of the way 203 
the property is on that turn, I just don’t think it would look right with a fence.  204 
 205 
Mr. Ray: The HOA is not a fan of the fence and Joe has a neighbor that coordinates the mowing so the 206 
lawns stay the same level. 207 
 208 
Mr. Miller: I’m still struggling with the unnecessary hardship part. From a security standpoint, it doesn’t 209 
necessarily have to be a wooden fence or something of that nature; it could be wrought iron fencing, etc. 210 
 211 
Mr. Ray: For Joe and his family, they have decided that the safety of the cover is not negotiable, for 212 
them and for the neighborhood. The unnecessary hardship comes in when spending $15,000 on a fence. 213 
 214 
Ms. Sundar: I second your thought about the fencing for the safety. 215 
 216 
Mr. Miller: I respect what you’re saying in regard to the cover; to me it’s a concern without the fencing.  217 
 218 
Ms. Jordan: And the way the Code stands now, it requires a fence, and I’m still a little concerned about 219 
the manufacturer saying that even with this cover, there should be some type of enclosure around it. I 220 
understand the legal teams that put these things together, but it’s still a recommendation from the 221 
manufacturer that you enclose it even with the cover.  222 
 223 
Mr. Shipley: That’s my concern also. I would not even begin to question the fact that when that cover is 224 
closed it’s as safe as it can possibly be. I have a pool, I have teenagers, and we have had it for 6 or 7 225 
years. A concern from Orange Township Zoning when we built it was the barrier was designed for an 226 
accident. No one anticipates someone getting hurt in the pool but for someone walking into a pool with 227 
no barrier; if it’s closed, I’m certain it’s as safe as it possibly could be. 228 
 229 
Mr. Ray: You say you have a pool now and you have teenagers. Having a pool or being a boater, or an 230 
RV-er or camper or whatever your passion is, it becomes a lifestyle, and when you have a pool, your 231 
lifestyle has whatever your program is, you’re locking the backdoor or doing whatever. But if you didn’t 232 
lock that door, your pool would also be exposed or if someone didn’t latch the gate, it would also be 233 
exposed. When you have a pool cover and you know that liability is in the backyard, you don’t walk 234 
away from it unless it’s closed up. The pool stays closed unless you’re outside with it. And at our house, 235 
we may close the pool 8-10 times a day. It’s cheap to open and close, so it’s minor stuff. So to punch in a 236 
code and go to the grocery store, and my kids sometimes have the code, it just depends on what’s going 237 
on. If I’m going to be away for a while, I don’t want friends over, then their code is deactivated. But that 238 
lifestyle, whether it be boating and wearing a life jacket or camping and making sure things are safe for a 239 
camp site, that lifestyle is similar to building a pool with an automatic cover, and you tend to look after 240 
it, and you don’t go in, you don’t leave it unattended unless it’s locked up.  241 
 242 
Mr. Miller: Have you personally experienced a child drowning? 243 
 244 
Mr. Ray: I have a customer. 245 
 246 
Mr. Miller: I personally was involved in one where responsible grandparents were not so responsible and 247 
took their grandkids out into a lagoon. We just happen to drive by and see the grandparents flailing their 248 
arms, screaming. We dove in and even though we gave them CPR, they died. My sons were not allowed 249 
to get in my boat without a life jacket until they were 16 years old, so water safety to me is vital. I hear 250 
what you’re saying, I respect what you’re saying with the safeguards but still without the fencing, it’s 251 
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not necessarily what goes on at your home, but when your kids start growing up and kids come in from 252 
the neighborhood and want to play, you run in to grab something  and you’re gone 2 minutes, boom. 253 
 254 
Mr. Ray: A fence doesn’t address that, as tragic as your situation was. A fence addresses a neighbor kid 255 
wanting to play a prank and jump in maybe. But when a cover is on, it is closed as closed can be; you 256 
can’t get in there. The product is made of a fiberglass laminated iron; razorblades struggle to get thru it. 257 
The difference in safety between a fence and a cover, it’s not even in the same ballpark. 258 
 259 
Mr. Miller: But there’s a reason why codes require a fence. 260 
 261 
Mr. Ray: It’s because there weren’t auto covers when the code was made.  262 
 263 
Mr. Shipley: But even the manufacturer recommends it. 264 
 265 
Mr. Ray: I don’t know if you know attorneys but I do, but they’re going to put anything in there that is 266 
possible, we’re also looking at the local code.  267 
 268 
Mr. Shipley: This isn’t an attorney talking here. This is multiple safety layers, this specifically starts out 269 
do not rely on one safety piece. I understand the attorney side for liability, but that’s even a recom-270 
mendation there; self closing gates, self latching latches, that’s addressed in that one paragraph which is 271 
part of the code now.  272 
 273 
Ms. Sundar: I assume the fence is safer compared to the cover because the fence is there all the time. For 274 
me personally it’s not the fact that you like the cover; the fence is right there. 275 
 276 
Mr. Ray: We drove a Harley Davidson out on the cover, we put the front of a farm wheel tractor on 277 
there, 2900 pounds. I respect what the community has charged you with to look after zoning and safety, 278 
but I don’t know that we’re making our point that the true safety, the true barrier that is created here, I 279 
don’t feel like we’re communicating that.  280 
 281 
Mr. Miller: We’re not disputing what you’re saying; that’s not the issue.  282 
  283 

PUBLIC COMMENT 284 
 285 
Julie Ray, 121 Lipton, I’m on a pool and spa owners Facebook group, and Tuesday a lady posted they 286 
live in a community that has a path that’s used in the back. They have an automatic safety cover and a 287 
fence around the pool. They had several children hop their fence and unlock it and go in. She had no idea 288 
who they were, she had no idea it was going on, but her fence did nothing. They were jumping on the 289 
cover, jumping off the diving board, going down the slide. The only thing that saved these kids and 290 
saved a tragedy from happening was that auto cover. Kids can get around anything and the most 291 
dangerous part is the kids from the house going outside. Do you still have your alarm on?  292 
 293 
Mr. Shipley: The fence doesn’t come to the house.  294 
 295 
Ms. Ray: Most of our clients take the alarm down because it is so loud. That’s where the safety comes 296 
in. It is not normally the kids because they can get around anything; it’s coming from the house and 297 
being able to block that off because by code, the house is likely a barrier. People coming in and out of 298 
the house; you’re not watching if you’re not in the pool and no one is doing things in the pool, that’s 299 
when the safety cover becomes effective because it’s most likely something that’s going on at the house 300 
when people aren’t paying attention, not strangers. Strangers can get in; it’s not that big of a deal for 301 
these kids to jump a fence, to unlock a fence and pop right in, and that’s where the safety cover really 302 
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comes into play. It is now national code, it is state code in several states and it is because it is safe and it 303 
is saving people’s lives.  304 
 305 
Mr. Ray:  Joe and his wife have worked hard, saved their money for a couple of years, and they got this 306 
project on the books. They decided to invest about $13,000 for this cover and the hardship is dropping 307 
another $15,000 to add a fence, coupled with neighbor relations, coupled with not in the line of sight 308 
with any other homes, not in the line of sight with another street. We didn’t come in to ask to change the 309 
code. If that ever comes up and you’d like information, I’d be happy to be a part of that conversation. 310 
But we’re asking you to take a little bit of a leap and look at some of the other municipalities that have 311 
accepted it, look at the data, look at the institutions that have certified it, and work with Joe and his 312 
family. He’s got a 4 and 6 year old; he doesn’t want anyone to get hurt either.  313 
 314 
Tia Stropkai, 3349 Sunglow Drive, Lewis Center, I have the email from the HOA but I didn’t print it out 315 
if you’d like to see it. We submitted paperwork to them asking if they were okay with the automatic cover 316 
in lieu of the fence, and they sent back stating they were fine with it and the HOA approved it.  317 
 318 
Ms. Sundar: Michele, do we have anything from the neighbors?  319 
 320 
Ms. Boni: I haven’t received anything. 321 
 322 
Ms. Sundar: Because this is from the HOA stating that they don’t have any objections but I just want 323 
something from the neighbors. I trust you, but if you had something on paper, that would be good support 324 
for you. 325 
 326 
Ms. Boni: I did not receive anything negative or positive.  327 
 328 
Ms. Sundar: You did inform them of this? 329 
 330 
Ms. Boni: Yes, we sent out notifications to property owners. 331 
 332 
Ms. Jordan: One of the criteria for a Use Variance is justified due to special conditions; can you discuss 333 
what the special conditions are? 334 
 335 
Mr. Stropkai: Financial hardship as well as aesthetics. The whole neighborhood is an open, natural field 336 
and putting up a fence doesn’t really fit with that.  337 
 338 
Mr. Miller: Are there any fences within the subdivision at all? 339 
 340 
Mr. Stropkai: Yes. 341 
 342 
Mr. Trefz: So fences are allowed? 343 
 344 
Ms. Stropkai: Yes, we have a couple of pools in our subdivision. 345 
 346 
Ms. Sundar: And they have fences? 347 
 348 
Ms. Stropkai: Yes. 349 
 350 
Mr. Miller: And they do or they do not have an automatic cover like you’re proposing? 351 
 352 
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Ms. Stropkai: They do not. Both of those properties’ layout is a lot different. They are not on a turn like 353 
we are and they’re adjacent from one another to where they almost share a fence. 354 
 355 
Ms. Sundar: Your neighbors, do they have kids? 356 
 357 
Ms. Stropkai: College age to the right and an older couple to the left. 358 
 359 
Mr. Stropkai: In the neighborhood we have probably about 15-20 children that are anywhere from the age 360 
of ours to just a few years older, so there are quite a few children in the neighborhood, and their parents 361 
are all about on the same page as us. We’ve explained to them the safety measures and once we educated 362 
them on this cover, they were completely fine with having this barrier. 363 
 364 
Mr. Miller: Have you talked to your insurance company about any dramatic difference in your cost 365 
without the fence around the pool?  366 
 367 
Mr. Stropkai: No.  368 
 369 
Mr. Ray: We have never found an insurance company that adjusted rates for any type of pool scenario 370 
except for with a diving board. 371 
 372 
Mr. Miller: Insurance companies do not raise rates when a swimming pool goes in from a liability 373 
standpoint?  374 
 375 
Mr. Ray: No, but a diving board is a different situation.  376 
 377 
Mr. Trefz: I recommend that we approve this. 378 
 379 
Ms. Boni: You would be approving a Use Variance from Section 26.08 Sub-section c) and I would 380 
probably list the criteria. 381 
 382 
Mr. McCarthy: The Board does not typically issue written recommendations. I suggest if you’re going to 383 
move forward to approve this that you address each criteria based upon the facts presented this evening, 384 
not simply say we weren’t satisfied or we were satisfied; what is the basis for being satisfied, so you’ll 385 
have to expand a bit on the skeleton that’s in there. It’s pretty much the resolution stated there and then 386 
state this is on the basis of 1, 2, 3, and 4. 387 
 388 

MOTON TO APPROVE VARIANCE USE APPLICATION #VA19-18 389 
 390 
Mt. Trefz made a motion to approve Variance Use Application #VA-19-18, Joseph & Tia Stropkai, as the 391 
variance is not contrary to the public interest. It is also justified in its special conditions of safety and this 392 
being safer than a fence by itself. The literal enforcement of the resolution would be an unnecessary 393 
hardship on the owner. And the spirit of this resolution will be observed in substantial justice being done. 394 
That goes to the community that has already approved it, the due diligence you have put into selecting it. 395 
 396 
No second 397 
 398 

MOTION TO DENY VARIANCE USE APPLICATION #VA-19-18 399 
 400 

Mr. Miller made a motion to deny Variance Use Application #VA-19-18, Joseph & Tia Stropkai, based 401 
on the public interest with safety acting as a deterrent. The special conditions also include safety as a 402 
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deterrent. The literal enforcement must be carried out as per zoning guidelines. And the spirit of those 403 
zoning issues must be carried thru.  404 
 405 
Seconded by Ms. Jordan 406 
 407 
Vote on Motion: Mr. Miller-yes, Ms. Sundar-yes, Mr. Trefz-no, Ms. Jordan-yes, Mr. Shipley-yes 408 
Motion carried 409 
 410 
Called 5 minute recess 411 
 412 
Hearing continued with Variance Application #VA-19-19 413 
 414 
Minutes prepared by Cindy Davis, Zoning Secretary 415 
 416 
On November 14, 2019, Mr. Miller made a motion to approve the August 15, 2019 meeting minutes of 417 
the Orange Township Board of Zoning Appeals for Variance Application #VA-19-18, Joseph & Tia 418 
Stropkai, with the following corrections: 419 
 420 

• Line 121: “State” should read “States” 421 
• Line 172 should read: “…address different things than the building code does” 422 
• Line 177 should read: “….there is no economically viable use…” 423 
• Line 225 should read: “…and we have had it for 6 or 7 years.” 424 
• Line 266 should read: “…but they’re going to put anything in there that is possible; we’re also looking at the local 425 

code.” 426 
• Line 302 should read: “….and that’s where the safety….” 427 

 428 
Seconded by Mr. Trefz. 429 
 430 
Vote on Motion: Mr. Oster-abstain, Mr. Miller-yes, Mr. Trefz-yes, Ms. Sundar-yes 431 
 432 
 433 
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APPLICATION #VA-19-19                 August 15, 2019 1 
 2 
Mr. Miller called the hearing back to order. 3 

Variance Application #VA-19-19 Ninja Express Car Wash LLC., Requesting a variance from 4 
Section II(B) of Zoning Case #2192 for a structure that will fail to meet the minimum setback 5 
requirement from any street right-of-way. In addition, requesting sign variance/s from Section 22 6 
of the Orange Township Zoning Resolution. The subject property is located at 8062 Orange Center 7 
Drive, Lewis Center, OH 43035 and having parcel number 318-321-01-005-000. 8 
 9 
Ms. Boni presented the Staff Report and presentation. The site is at the southeast corner of Orange Road 10 
and 23 and was formerly used as a car wash and detail shop, so they are proposing a similar use for the 11 
site. They want to add a design element structure affixed to the primary structure which will make it 4’ 12 
into the setback area so it would be a new setback of 76’.  13 
 14 
Mr. McCarthy:  I believe originally there were 2 applications filed.  15 
 16 
Ms. Boni: Yes, they were proposing a monument sign but I confirmed with the applicant, and I believe 17 
we will be tabling that application because it is not ready at this time. 18 
 19 
Mr. McCarthy: And I believe also, and I just wanted to know if this is part of the consideration at all, 20 
there is an existing non-conforming monument sign more toward the oil change. That’s not here in any 21 
manner tonight. 22 
 23 
Ms. Boni: No.  24 
 25 
Mr. McCarthy: And I understand that you view the arch at the top as a design element? 26 
 27 
Ms. Boni: That is correct.  28 
 29 
Mr. McCarthy: And that is consistent with the prior decision of this Board in 2004? 30 
 31 
Ms. Boni: Yes.  32 
 33 

APPLICANT PRESENTATION/BOARD QUESTIONS & COMMENTS 34 
 35 

David Hodge, Zoning & Land Use Lawyer with Underhill and Hodge, 8000 Walter Parkway, Suite 260, 36 
New Albany, Ohio 43054 here on behalf of the property owner. This is a setback variance of 4’ along 23. 37 
The setback requirement is 80’; we want to encroach on that 4’. If you do that on a percentage basis, it’s 38 
½%.  We would like to address the factors from your Zoning Resolution for an Area Variance to help the 39 
Board arrive at a conclusion.  In granting an Area Variance, the Board shall determine that the variance 40 
will not be contrary to the public interest. So we have to evaluate if a ½% encroachment into an 80’ 41 
setback is contrary to the public interest. The design element coming out ½% is to provide some visual 42 
interest and an entry feature on to a property that’s been vacant for a number of years, to enhance the 43 
architecture from an aesthetic perspective. I believe for those and other reasons that a ½% encroachment 44 
into the setback is not contrary to the public interest. That said variance is justified due to special 45 
conditions. There are some special conditions in that this property is zoned in a Commercial District that 46 
has been vacant, that this property owner is coming to this development investing several million dollars 47 
in the Township, and there are some special conditions since the property is vacant and this property 48 
owner believes he needs this feature to dress up and enhance the aesthetics of the property. Those are 49 
some special conditions associated with the request. That the spirit of the resolution will be observed and 50 
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substantial justice done.  The spirit of the Resolution is stated in some different places in your Zoning 51 
Resolution. Article XI, the purpose is to promote public health, safety, morals, comfort and general 52 
welfare to conserve and protect the natural resources in scenic areas. Article XXI, the general 53 
development standards are designed to insure that the general welfare of citizens of Orange Township are 54 
protected and enhanced. Those are some pretty broad sentiments and to me it’s not contrary in any way to 55 
the public interest of the residents of Orange Township to have a 4’ encroachment for a building aesthetic 56 
improvement, ½% into the 80’ setback. It then talks about the property in question, so to me that’s 3 57 
points so far in favor of this request. The next is whether the property will yield a reasonable return or 58 
whether there can be any beneficial use of the property without the variance. That’s probably a little bit of 59 
a gray area. Certainly someone could arguably come in and use this property; I don’t think they could use 60 
it as well, but we can either solve that or put that in the column with the Township. It’s not encumbent on 61 
the applicant to meet all the Duncan factor standards; it’s encumbent on the applicant to meet the majority 62 
of them to consider the totality of the circumstances and tip the scales in favor of the variance request. 63 
Whether the variance is substantial. I don’t know what substantial is, but it’s certainly not ½%, it’s 64 
certainly not 4’ into 80’, so that one is in the property owner column. Whether the essential character of 65 
the neighborhood would be substantially altered or whether adjoining property owners would suffer a 66 
substantial detriment as the result of the variance. Rest assured that if any property owner felt they were 67 
going to be substantially harmed by a ½% encroachment along the front of this building, they would be 68 
here arguing that, and let the record reflect that it’s only me and my clients and their other design 69 
consultants in the room, so nobody would be substantially altered by a 4’, ½% encroachment into this 70 
right-of-way, so that goes into the property owner’s column. Whether the variance would adversely affect 71 
the delivery of governmental services such as water, sewer and garbage. ½% encroachment along the 72 
front of the building of an 80’ setback will have no impact whatsoever on the delivery of governmental 73 
services; that would squarely go in the column of the property owner. Whether the property owner 74 
purchased the property with knowledge of the zoning restriction. I’ll give that one to the Township but I 75 
don’t think that he did. I don’t think any typical property owner has that kind of understanding of 76 
underlying zoning requirements. This stuff is very complicated as you saw with your last case. I know my 77 
client did not purchase the property with this understanding but that does not negate the fact that a ½% 78 
encroachment is insignificant and insubstantial. Whether the property owner’s predicament feasibly could 79 
be obviated thru some method other than a variance. The answer to that question is no. We believe that 80 
it’s important to enhance this building, to make sure this building thrives, to make sure this building is a 81 
success here in Orange Township, and my client who is an architect believes this ½% encroachment into 82 
the setback is important to maximize the likelihood of this being a successful venture. I believe I have 83 
demonstrated that we meet the vast majority of the practical difficulty standards. 84 
 85 
Mr. Miller: I appreciate your enthusiasm in reading the determining factors for the variances. We take this 86 
very seriously and, as the variance request before this, we want the Township to grow, we want it to be a 87 
safe, thriving area, so the past case doesn’t really have any factors on what we’re presenting here. You 88 
mentioned that this is going to be a multi-million dollar investment; help me understand that. 89 
 90 
Don Rife, Jr., 7195 Slate Bend Drive, Delaware, Ohio 43015.  The purchase price on the property for the 91 
5.3 acres, was $2.125 million; we will have that same figure in the rehab of the building. That includes 92 
the car wash itself, the exterior and what we call the detail side, so we’ll be detailing on one side, a drive 93 
thru car wash and offices on one side and a customer waiting room.  94 
 95 
Mr. McCarthy: Did you acquire the former oil change as well? 96 
 97 
Mr. Rife: We did but right now we’re up in the air as to exactly where we’re headed with that; it’s not 98 
going to be an oil change, I can tell you that.  99 
 100 
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Danny Popp, 855 East Cook Road, Columbus, Ohio, Don is gutting the whole inside of that building and 101 
replacing all the equipment with state of the art car wash equipment and upgrade the electric to accom-102 
modate that to make it very efficient.  103 
 104 
Ms. Jordan: On this picture can you show us where this 4’ is coming into play. 105 
 106 
Ms. Boni: I have the 23 elevation up here that shows a better depiction.  107 
 108 
Mr. Rife: You have the two larger columns, the smaller column looking whatever that is but even the 109 
entrance door is still at 80’. 110 
 111 
Mr. Popp: It is just the columns that are out there. 112 
 113 
Mr. Rife: Literally it is just a design feature. 114 
 115 
Ms. Boni: And just for clarification, it is affixed to the primary structure; it is not separate. 116 
 117 
Mr. Rife: Yes, it is affixed to the building. 118 
 119 
Ms. Boni: And it’s not a separate structure. 120 
 121 
Mr. Rife: Yes.  122 
 123 
Mr. Miller: Ms. Boni made reference to the arch at the top? 124 
 125 
Ms. Boni: Yes. McDonald’s, when they went in for their signage there was discussion on whether or not 126 
that arch would be considered as part of their signage because if that was the case, they would have to 127 
have a variance for their signage. The Board decided that arch was part of the building instead of the sign 128 
and that’s why I brought that up. 129 
 130 
Mr. McCarthy: And in that case, the arch was also brought down into the building and did not sit on the 131 
pylons above it. And is that infilled with material or is that open air underneath it? 132 
 133 
Mr. Rife: It’s open.  134 
 135 
Mr. McCarthy: So that would be a difference that you should be aware of.  136 
 137 
Ms. Boni: The McDonald’s arch does extend taller than the building. 138 
 139 
Mr. McCarthy: At one point they were on pedestals like this; that is not how they ended up being.  140 
 141 
Mr. Trefz: Is there any reason those columns couldn’t be recessed into the building?  142 
 143 
Mr. Rife: It would change the natural layout of the equipment; there wouldn’t be enough room to install 144 
the equipment on the inside of the building.  145 
 146 
Mr. Popp: And it would require major structural changes for the building. It would pump this building up 147 
another $130,000 or more.  148 
 149 
Mr. McCarthy: At this point the Zoning Department has determined that they feel that it is consistent with 150 
the prior decision of the Board. However, the issue of whether there’s no appeal of that decision pending, 151 
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so really I think we are dealing solely with should this 4’ variance be given. And Ms. Boni, would you 152 
agree with that? 153 
 154 
Ms. Boni: Yes. 155 
 156 
Mr. Hodge: I agree with you too; I don’t think the other thing is relevant. I think what’s relevant here is 157 
whether the 28.06 c) factors of your Code as applied to the circumstances here tip in favor of granting the 158 
variance, and we believe strongly that they do. 159 
 160 
Mr. McCarthy: I believe Mr. Miller’s point was, given the definition in the Zoning Resolution, does the 161 
arch itself constitute a sign that needs to be considered in some fashion.  162 
 163 
Mr. Trefz: On the section of the columns, I see a 3’…. 164 
 165 
Mr. Rife: 3’ square. 166 
 167 
Mr. Trefz: Not quite, but if the 3’ is put on top of the building, where is the other foot for the 4’ variance?  168 
 169 
Mr. Rife: It’s because the top overhangs a little bit. It’s not quite a foot, but we figured we’d go with a 170 
foot to make it simple.  171 
 172 
Mr. Shipley: The 4’ is based upon the distance from the top. 173 
 174 
Mr. Rife: That’s correct. 175 
 176 
Mr. Shipley: The column is only 3’ from the ground level. 177 
 178 
Mr. Rife: Regardless, it’s 4’ after you get that piece. 179 
 180 
Mr. Miller: You originally requested the monument sign part. Why rescind that part? 181 
 182 
Mr. Rife: From our research, we felt it would be very difficult to get approved. But from my perspective, 183 
we could pull it out; we would prefer to do that because it’s expensive. 184 
 185 
Ms. Boni: We had several meetings with the applicant, and we try our best to reduce the amount of 186 
variances that come to the Board, so at the end of our discussions this was the only request to be heard 187 
today.  188 
 189 
Ms. Sundar: Other than the structural change, is there any other issue? What would be the structural 190 
change? 191 
 192 
Mr. Rife: If we did something more than this, we’d have to make the foundations bigger, we’d have to re-193 
do the exterior wall, we’d have to re-do the primary structure, we’d have to re-do the garage door to 194 
modify the inside because the way your drains and things lay, we’d have to tie back into the existing 195 
sewer lines so pushing that back will cause major difficulties on the inside. 196 
 197 

PUBLIC COMMENT 198 
 199 

None 200 
 201 

MOTION TO APPROVE VARIANCE APPLICATION #VA-19-19 202 
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Ms. Jordan made a motion to approve Variance Application #VA-19-19, Ninja Express Carwash, LLC, as 203 
submitted based on the revised drawing date of August 19, 2019; seconded by Mr. Trefz. 204 
 205 
Vote on Motion: Mr. Miller-yes, Mr. Trefz-yes, Ms. Jordan-yes, Ms. Sundar-yes, Mr. Shipley-yes 206 
Motion carried 207 
 208 
Mr. McCarthy: Ms. Boni, I understand we have minutes on the agenda. I did review the minutes, I did 209 
note some changes, but I also did that on the machine that has no functional screen and it’s hooked to 210 
an external screen back in my office. Unfortunately I did not copy it to this screen, so I ask to defer that. 211 
 212 
Ms. Boni: I’m fine with that as long as the Board is fine with that. 213 
 214 
Mr. Miller: Yes. 215 
 216 
Ms. Boni: Another item, the variance application for ATS that you discussed last month, they have 217 
agreed to be in compliance with our Code, so they have decided to withdraw their application.  218 
 219 

MOTION TO APPROVE WITHDRAWAL OF VARIANCE APPLICATION #VA-19-16 220 
 221 

Ms. Jordan made a motion to approve withdrawal of Variance Application #VA-19-16, ATS Ohio, Inc.; 222 
seconded by Mr. Trefz. 223 
 224 
Vote on Motion: Mr. Miller-yes, Ms. Sundar-yes, Ms. Jordan-yes, Mr. Trefz-yes, Mr. Shipley-yes 225 
Motion carried 226 
 227 
Ms. Boni: The last thing I have is the Universalist Congregational Church on Franklin Street in Old 228 
Lewis Center was supposed to be here tonight but they are acquiring land from Del-Co Water and need 229 
a little more time to work on it, so they are requesting to table to the September hearing.  230 
 231 
 MOTION TO TABLE VARIANCE USE & CONDITIONAL USE APPLICATOIN #VA-CU-19-232 

15 233 
 234 

Mr. Shipley made a motion to table Variance Use & Conditional Use Application #VA-CU-19-15, 235 
North Unitarian Universalist Congregation, until the September 19, 2019 Board of Zoning Appeals 236 
Hearing; seconded by Mr. Miller.  237 
 238 
Vote on Motion: Mr. Miller-yes, Ms. Sundar-yes, Ms. Jordan-yes, Mr. Trefz-yes, Mr. Shipley-yes 239 
Motion carried 240 
 241 
Hearing adjourned at 7:50 p.m. 242 
 243 
Minutes prepared by Cindy Davis, Zoning Secretary 244 
 245 
On November 14, 2019, Mr. Miller made a motion to approve the August 15, 2019 meeting minutes of 246 
the Orange Township Board of Zoning Appeals for Variance Application #VA-19-19, Ninja Express Car 247 
Wash, LLC, with the following corrections: 248 
 249 

• Line 92 should read: “$2.125 million….” 250 
• Line 142: “cones” should read” columns” 251 

 252 
Seconded by Mr. Trefz 253 
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Vote on Motion: Mr. Oster-abstain, Mr. Miller-yes, Mr. Trefz-yes, Ms. Sundar-yes 254 


	8.15.19 BZA Minutes (VA-19-18) Approved 11.14.19
	Variance Application #VA-19-19 Ninja Express Car Wash LLC., Requesting a variance from Section II(B) of Zoning Case #2192 for a structure that will fail to meet the minimum setback requirement from any street right-of-way. In addition, requesting sign...
	Conditional Use Application #VA-19-20 Ninja Express Car Wash LLC., Requesting a Conditional Use from Section 22.04(a) of the Orange Township Zoning Resolution to allow the construction of a monument style free standing signs in an area zoned Planned C...
	Rick Oster, Chairman


	8.15.19 BZA Minutes (VA-19-19) Approved 11.14.19
	Variance Application #VA-19-19 Ninja Express Car Wash LLC., Requesting a variance from Section II(B) of Zoning Case #2192 for a structure that will fail to meet the minimum setback requirement from any street right-of-way. In addition, requesting sign...


